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RECOMMENDATION That the Cultural Heritage Commission:

1. Declare the subject property an Historic-Cultural Monument per Los Angeles Administrative
Code Chapter 9, Division 22, Article 1, Section 22.171.7.

2. Adopt the staff report and findings.

VINCENT P. BERTONI, AICP
Director of Planning

[SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE] [SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE]

Ken Bernstein, AICP, Principal City Planner Lambert M. Giessinger, Senior Architect
Office of Historic Resources Office of Historic Resources

[SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE] [SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE]
Melissa Jones, City Planner Rafael Fontes, City Planning Associate
Office of Historic Resources Office of Historic Resources

Attachments: Commission/Staff Site Inspection Photos—September 11, 2025
Historic-Cultural Monument Application
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FINDINGS

e The Hardin House, “exemplifies significant contributions to the broad cultural, economic or
social history of the nation, state, city, or community” as a rare example of early residential
development in Tujunga, representing the period prior to the area’s consolidation with the City
of Los Angeles.

e The Hardin House “embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method
of construction” as an excellent example of early 20th century arroyo stone residential
construction.

CRITERIA

The criterion is the Cultural Heritage Ordinance which defines a historical or cultural monument as any
site (including significant trees or other plant life located thereon), building or structure of particular
historic or cultural significance to the City of Los Angeles if it meets at least one of the following criteria:

1. Is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies significant
contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation, state, city or
community;

2. s associated with the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, or local
history; or

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction; or
represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual genius
influenced his or her age.

SUMMARY

The Hardin House is a one-story, single-family residence with a stone tower and detached carport
located on N. Marcus Avenue between Apperson Street and Day Street in Tujunga. The subject
property is an early 20th century vernacular building built utilizing arroyo stone by then-owner Reverend
Floyd Barnes Hardin, Jr. (1886-1971) who began construction in 1921. While some sources state the
subject property may have been used as an early schoolhouse in Tujunga, it appears to have primarily
served as a single-family residence from its construction to the present.

Arroyo stone buildings are structures that are distinguishable by elevations clad entirely in arroyo
stone—locally sourced, rounded river stones. While arroyo stone was not readily available in Los
Angeles, small groups of arroyo stone buildings can be found in the foothill neighborhoods of Northeast
Los Angeles, near the Arroyo Seco, and in Sunland-Tujunga in the Crescenta Valley where arroyo
stone could be collected from washes and streams. Arroyo stone buildings were constructed by skilled
stonemasons typically for themselves and took design inspiration from the architectural styles
associated with the Arts and Crafts Movement as well as from the Mission Revival architectural style.

The village of Tujunga was first inhabited by the Fernandefio Tataviam people, with the name Tujunga
referring to tuju, an old woman whose likeness was symbolized in a rock formation. In 1840, the area
was organized into a land grant by the Mexican Governor Juan Alvarado called Rancho Tujunga for
brothers Francisco and Pedro Lopez, as well as the Fernandefio. The United States government did
not recognize the Fernandefio claims to the land, and by 1875, the entirety of Rancho Tujunga was
sold to Andrew Glassell. In the late 1880s, the land was sold off as small farm lots, and Tujunga soon
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became the most established settlement in the area that included other developed areas such as
Sunland and Lake View Terrace. In the 1910s, philosopher, journalist, and founder of the Little Lands
Movement, William Ellsworth Smythe, sought to establish a utopian community in Tujunga
accompanied by other early settlers known as “Little Landers.” Smythe partnered with real estate
developer Marshal Hartranft to build the community.

By 1913, Bolton Hall (HCM #2) was constructed by self-described “nature builder” George Harris
utilizing arroyo stone construction which would become emblematic of early construction in Tujunga.
By the 1920s, the Little Lands colony had largely dissolved, and Hartranft resold much of the land on
smaller plots advertised for more self-sufficient settlers rather than the utopian ideals of the Little Lands
Movement. By 1925, Tujunga incorporated as a town and was eventually consolidated into the City of
Los Angeles in 1932.

The subject property is irregular in plan and of wood-frame construction with arroyo stone cladding on
three sides and stucco cladding on the rear, northern portion. It has a mix of flat roofs clad in rolled
asphalt and a gabled roof clad in asphalt shingles; the roof of the original, 1920s portion has a parapet.
The primary, southern elevation is symmetrical in design and features a stone retaining wall and a set
of concrete steps that leads to the primary entrance. At the center of the elevation is a tall, square,
arroyo stone-clad tower above the front porch that features two columns clad with arroyo stone. The
parapet of the tower is covered in wood planks. Recessed behind the porch, the primary entrance to
the single-family residence is composed of a single wooden door. A stone chimney slightly protrudes
above the roofline, and a secondary entrance to the rear, northern portion of the building is visible
beneath an overhanging eave on the western end of the elevation. The eastern elevation is largely
utilitarian in design aside from an eastward projecting patio canopy and single door entrance below.
The western elevation features a stone chimney on the southern portion of the building, with the
northern portion obscured from view. The northern elevation is largely obscured from view by vegetation
and the neighboring property. Fenestration across the subject property consists of multi-lite casement
windows and vinyl windows. Interior features include a stone built-in fireplace, tongue and groove plank
ceilings, and exposed wood ceiling beams. The subject property also features a small carport on the
southeast portion of the lot built of stone and wood construction with a gabled wood roof and a built-in
storage shed.

The subject property has experienced a number of permitted alterations that include the legalization of
an 84 square-foot addition on the north elevation, the addition of a 130 square-foot dining room at the
rear and 56 square-foot laundry room on the north elevation, the replacement of four windows, and a
kitchen remodel in 1999. There have also been multiple unpermitted alterations that occurred at
unknown dates, including the addition of a flat roof capping the parapet above the entry, construction
of several additions to the rear of the property that were subsequently connected to the primary
residence and the replacement of many of the original windows.

Floyd Barnes Hardin, Jr. was born in Geneva, lllinois on May 4, 1886, and was raised in Rockford,
lllinois. Hardin’s family was composed of preachers, and Hardin later attended the Garrett Biblical
Institute at Evanston, lllinois and Northwestern Theological School. Hardin was a Christian Pacifist
against social injustice and war and was incarcerated from 1917-1918 for publicizing these beliefs.
Following his imprisonment, Hardin relocated to Tujunga after residing in Eagle Rock for a short period.
In Tujunga, Hardin constructed the subject property. Hardin was married five times, and relocated to
Colorado after his second marriage fell apart in 1922. Hardin worked as a printer and later for the
Midwest Liquor Company. He moved several more times to lllinois, Mississippi, and finally, back to
lllinois where he died in Winnetka, lllinois, on January 13, 1971, at the age of 85.
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The subject property was identified in the citywide survey of historic resources, SurveylLA, as
individually eligible for listing under local, state, and national designation programs as an excellent
example of arroyo stone construction in Tujunga, and an excellent and rare example of a 1920s
schoolhouse in Tujunga.

DISCUSSION
The Hardin House meets two of the Historic-Cultural Monument criteria for designation.

The subject property, “exemplifies significant contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social
history of the nation, state, city, or community” as a rare example of early residential development in
Tujunga, representing the period prior to the area’s consolidation with the City of Los Angeles. Most
houses constructed during the early 1900s and 1920s in Tujunga reflected architectural styles which
were popular at the time, such as the Spanish Colonial Revival, Craftsman, Tudor Revival, and
American Colonial Revival styles. At the same time, the abundance of local fieldstone and the presence
of skilled masons produced a number of stone houses such as the subject property. As there was a
lack of building regulations in the pre-consolidation period in Tujunga, and many new arrivals had
modest means, the do-it-yourself approach to homebuilding in the area was common, as illustrated by
the subject property. Typically, stone houses followed one of two architectural styles—a conventional
stone version of the California bungalow featuring low-pitched gabled roofs and broad, overhanging
eaves; or a style unique to Tujunga, such as the subject property, featuring cubic volumes with vertical
proportions, a flat or low-sloped roof with parapets, and little if any ornamentation. The subject property
represents one of a few remaining, intact examples of residential development from the pre-
consolidation period; most other examples do not retain integrity.

Additionally, the subject property, “embodies distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or
method of construction” as an excellent example of early 20th century arroyo stone residential
construction. Exemplifying the Arts and Crafts ideal of using native materials to create handcrafted
buildings, arroyo stone buildings such as the Hardin House are distinguishable by elevations clad
entirely in arroyo stone — locally sourced, rounded river stones. As exhibited by the subject property,
arroyo stone buildings are typically one or two-stories in height, have elevations fully clad in arroyo
stone, have hipped or gabled roofs with overhanging eaves, and feature small, recessed window
openings. Stone buildings like the subject property are fairly uncommon in Los Angeles because the
material was not readily available, and as such, the Hardin House represents a rare, intact example of
this method of residential construction.

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (“CEQA”) FINDINGS

State of California CEQA Guidelines, Article 19, Section 15308, Class 8 “consists of actions taken by
regulatory agencies, as authorized by state or local ordinance, to assure the maintenance, restoration,
enhancement, or protection of the environment where the regulatory process involves procedures for
protection of the environment.”

State of California CEQA Guidelines Article 19, Section 15331, Class 31 “consists of prcjects limited to
maintenance, repair, stabilization, rehabilitation, restoration, preservation, conservation or
reconstruction of historical resources in a manner consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating,
Restoring, and Reconstructing Historic buildings.”
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The designation of the Hardin House as an Historic-Cultural Monument in accordance with Chapter 9,
Article 1, of The City of Los Angeles Administrative Code (“LAAC”) will ensure that future construction
activities involving the subject property are regulated in accordance with Section 22.171.14 of the
LAAC. The purpose of the designation is to prevent significant impacts to an Historic-Cultural
Monument through the application of the standards set forth in the LAAC. Without the regulation
imposed by way of the pending designation, the historic significance and integrity of the subject property
could be lost through incompatible alterations and new construction and the demolition of an
irreplaceable historic site/open space. The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation are
expressly incorporated into the LAAC and provide standards concerning the historically appropriate
construction activities which will ensure the continued preservation of the subject property.

The City of Los Angeles has determined based on the whole of the administrative record, that
substantial evidence supports that the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to CEQA Guidelines
Section Article 19, Section 15308, Class 8 and Class 31. The project was found to be exempt based
on the following:

The use of Categorical Exemption Class 8 in connection with the proposed designation is
consistent with the goals of maintaining, restoring, enhancing, and protecting the environment
through the imposition of regulations designed to prevent the degradation of Historic-Cultural
Monuments.

The use of Categorical Exemption Class 31 in connection with the proposed designation is
consistent with the goals relating to the preservation, rehabilitation, restoration and
reconstruction of historic buildings and sites in a manner consistent with the Secretary of the
Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties.

Furthermore, none of the exceptions to the Categorical Exemption Under CEQA Guidelines Section
15300.2 apply to the proposed Project. The proposed Project will not result in significant cumulative
impacts from successive projects of the same type in the same place. The Project does not involve
unusual circumstances as it is in a similar location, topography, and streetscape as other Historic-
Cultural Monuments in the Sunland — Tujunga — Lake View Terrace — Shadow Hills — East La Tuna
Canyon Community Plan Area. The Project will not damage scenic resources in a state scenic highway.
The Project site is not on a list compiled pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 related to
hazardous waste sites. The Project will also not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance
of an historical resource.

Categorical Exemption ENV-2025-4172-CE was prepared on September 22, 2025.

BACKGROUND

On July 24, 2025, the Director of Planning determined that the application for the proposed designation
of the subject property as an Historic-Cultural Monument was complete. On August 21, 2025, the
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Cultural Heritage Commission voted to take the subject property under consideration as a potential
Historic-Cultural Monument. On September 11, 2025, a subcommittee of the Commission consisting of
Commissioners Milofsky and Kennard conducted an inspection of the subject property, accompanied
by staff of the Office of Historic Resources
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RECOMMENDATION That the Cultural Heritage Commission:

1. Take the property under consideration as an Historic-Cultural Monument per Los Angeles
Administrative Code Chapter 9, Division 22, Article 1, Section 22.171.10 because the
application and accompanying photo documentation suggest the submittal warrants further
investigation.

2. Adopt the report findings.

VINCENT P. BERTONI, AICP
Director of Planning

[SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE] [SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE]

Ken Bernstein, AICP, Principal City Planner Lambert M. Giessinger, Senior Architect
Office of Historic Resources Office of Historic Resources

[SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE] [SIGNED ORIGINAL IN FILE]
Melissa Jones, City Planner Andrez Parra, Planning Assistant

Office of Historic Resources Office of Historic Resources

Attachment: Historic-Cultural Monument Application
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SUMMARY

The Hardin House is a one-story, single-family residence with a stone tower and detached carport
located on N. Marcus Avenue between Apperson Street and Day Street in Tujunga. The subject
property is an early 20th century vernacular building built utilizing arroyo stone by then-owner Reverend
Floyd Barnes Hardin, Jr. (1886-1971) who began construction in 1921. While some sources state the
subject property may have been used as an early schoolhouse in Tujunga, it appears to have primarily
served as a single-family residence from its construction to the present.

Arroyo stone buildings are structures that are distinguishable by elevations clad entirely in arroyo
stone—locally sourced, rounded river stones. While arroyo stone was not readily available in Los
Angeles, small groups of arroyo stone buildings can be found in the foothill neighborhoods of Northeast
Los Angeles, near the Arroyo Seco, and in Sunland-Tujunga in the Crescenta Valley where arroyo
stone could be collected from washes and streams. Arroyo stone buildings were constructed by skilled
stonemasons typically for themselves and took design inspiration from the architectural styles
associated with the Arts and Crafts Movement as well as from the Mission Revival architectural style.

The village of Tujunga was first inhabited by the Fernandefio Tataviam people, with the name Tujunga
referring to fuju, an old woman whose likeness was symbolized in a rock formation. In 1840, the area
was organized into a land grant by the Mexican Governor Juan Alvarado called Rancho Tujunga for
brothers Francisco and Pedro Lopez, as well as the Fernandefio. The United States government did
not recognize the Fernandefio claims to the land, and by 1875, the entirety of Rancho Tujunga was
sold to Andrew Glassell. In the late 1880s, the land was sold off as small farm lots, and Tujunga soon
became the most established settlement in the area that included other developed areas such as
Sunland and Lake View Terrace. In the 1910s, philosopher, journalist, and founder of the Little Lands
Movement, William Ellsworth Smythe, sought to establish a utopian community in Tujunga
accompanied by other early settlers known as “Little Landers.” Smythe partnered with real estate
developer Marshal Hartranft to build the community.

By 1913, Bolton Hall (HCM #2) was constructed by self-described “nature builder” George Harris
utilizing arroyo stone construction which would become emblematic of early construction in Tujunga.
By the 1920s, the Little Lands colony had largely dissolved, and Hartranft resold much of the land on
smaller plots advertised for more self-sufficient settlers rather than the utopian ideals of the Little Lands
Movement. By 1925, Tujunga incorporated as a town and was eventually consolidated into the City of
Los Angeles in 1932.

The subject property is irregular in plan and of wood-frame construction with arroyo stone cladding on
three sides and stucco cladding on the rear, northern portion. It has a mix of flat roofs clad in rolled
asphalt and a gabled roof clad in asphalt shingles; the roof of the original, 1920s portion has a parapet.
The primary, southern elevation is symmetrical in design and features a stone retaining wall and a set
of concrete steps that leads to the primary entrance. At the center of the elevation is a tall, square,
arroyo stone-clad tower above the front porch that features two columns clad with arroyo stone. The
parapet of the tower is covered in wood planks. Recessed behind the porch, the primary entrance to
the single-family residence is composed of a single wooden door. A stone chimney slightly protrudes
above the roofline, and a secondary entrance to the rear, northern portion of the building is visible
beneath an overhanging eave on the western end of the elevation. The eastern elevation is largely
utilitarian in design aside from an eastward projecting patio canopy and single door entrance below.
The western elevation features a stone chimney on the southern portion of the building, with the
northern portion obscured from view. The northern elevation is largely obscured from view by vegetation
and the neighboring property. Fenestration across the subject property consists of multi-lite casement
windows and vinyl windows. Interior features include a stone built-in fireplace, tongue and groove plank
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ceilings, and exposed wood ceiling beams. The subject property also features a small carport on the
southeast portion of the lot built of stone and wood construction with a gabled wood roof and a built-in
storage shed.

The subject property has experienced a number of permitted alterations that include the legalization of
an 84square-foot addition on the north elevation, the addition of a 130 square-foot dining room at the
rear and 56 square-foot laundry room on the north elevation, the replacement of four windows, and a
kitchen remodel in 1999. There have also been multiple unpermitted alterations that occurred at
unknown dates, including the construction of several additions to the rear of the property that were
subsequently connected to the primary residence and the replacement of many of the original windows.

Floyd Barnes Hardin, Jr. was born in Geneva, lllinois on May 4, 1886, and was raised in Rockford,
lllinois. Hardin’s family was composed of preachers, and Hardin later attended the Garrett Biblical
Institute at Evanston, lllinois and Northwestern Theological School. Hardin was a Christian Pacifist
against social injustice and war and was incarcerated from 1917-1918 for publicizing these beliefs.
Following his imprisonment, Hardin relocated to Tujunga after residing in Eagle Rock for a short period.
In Tujunga, Hardin constructed the subject property. Hardin was married five times, and relocated to
Colorado after his second marriage fell apart in 1922. Hardin worked as a printer and later for the
Midwest Liquor Company. He moved several more times to lllinois, Mississippi, and finally, back to
lllinois where he died in Winnetka, lllinois, on January 13, 1971, at the age of 85.

The subject property was identified in the citywide survey of historic resources, SurveylLA, as
individually eligible for listing under local, state, and national designation programs as an excellent
example of arroyo stone construction in Tujunga, and an excellent and rare example of a 1920s
schoolhouse in Tujunga.

CRITERIA

The criterion is the Cultural Heritage Ordinance which defines a historical or cultural monument as any
site (including significant trees or other plant life located thereon), building or structure of particular
historic or cultural significance to the City of Los Angeles if it meets at least one of the following criteria:

1. Is identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies significant
contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation, state, city or
community;

2. s associated with the lives of historic personages important to national, state, city, or local
history; or

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of construction; or
represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect whose individual genius
influenced his or her age.

FINDINGS
Based on the facts set forth in the summary and application, the Commission determines that the

application is complete and that the property may be significant enough to warrant further investigation
as a potential Historic-Cultural Monument.
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BACKGROUND

On July 24, 2025, the Director of Planning determined that the application for the proposed designation
of the subject property as an Historic-Cultural Monument was complete.
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Hardin House
10226 Marcus Avenue
Architectural Description

This single story stone house was originally designed in a square plan made up of 4
rooms with a small square porch topped by a stone tower, centrally located on the
front facade. A frame house with a side gable at the rear of the property was later
connected to it with the connecting addition partially serving as the kitchen. The
original house remains intact with the addition being built against the rear stone
wall. The main house and tower, as well as the central addition have flat roofs
covered in rolled composition. The original house has stone parapets around the
main roof and a flat wooden parapet (not original) around the tower roof. There is
a matching stone chimney on the North facing wall.

Architectural details include wooden multi-light casement windows in the stone
portion (some have been replaced with vinyl windows in the original openings).
The arched porch, which is supported by two battered stone pillars and two
pilasters at the rear, has vertical windows centrally located in the upper facades.
The porch 1s approached by concrete steps flanked by tiered stone stoops. The
front door screen has three symmetrical raised square panels. The actual door has
raised panels and a central stained glass light. The tower is flanked by two
replacement windows with their original stone surrounds.

A stone and wooden two-vehicle carport with an attached storage shed is located at
the front (Southwest) corner of the property. A large oak tree is at the front of the
property. A low curved stone retaining wall and a concrete walkway are adjacent
to the South of the house.

Alterations other than the rear addition and window change-outs include a side
entry a on the North facade that is a part of the central addition, two small
additions at the Northeast and Southeast corners of the rear house portion. All of
the additions are covered with stucco except the Southeast corner one, which has
stained shingle siding. The rear house portion is set on an exposed stone
foundation. A flat patio canopy extends to the South from the central addition. No
permits were found for the additions to the house, which may have been
constructed prior to the 1932 consolidation of the City of Tujunga with Los
Angeles.



Interior features include a stained tongue and groove plank ceiling with five thick
wood beams in the main house. There is a stone fireplace on the North wall in the
living room, wooden floors. Although not signed, it has all the defining
characteristics of a George Harris-designed fireplace. These features include the
use of very large, irregular-shaped boulders with an organic, free-form
arrangement extending from floor to ceiling, a minimal amount of visible mortar,
and stones protruding out randomly to provide a shelf or seating. The rear stone
wall is exposed in the kitchen, including original window openings.

Building permits from 1999 are for the following work: Addition of a dining room,
laundry room, kitchen remodel, window and drywall replacement, plumbing
fixtures and cabinet replacement, as well as related electrical, HVAC and
plumbing.

Accessory structures include a stone and wooden two vehicle carport, also possibly
built prior to the 1932 consolidation.

Summary

10226 Marcus Avenue embodies the distinctive characteristics of the Arroyo Stone
architectural style, a rare sub-theme of the Arts and Crafts movement, making it a
valuable resource for the study of early 20th century stone architecture in Los
Angeles, and more specifically, as a noteworthy cxample of the vernacular
architectural style of early 20th century Tujunga.

Built by Reverend Floyd Barnes Hardin during Tujunga's second wave of
settlement that commenced soon after the demise of the Little Lands colony, 10226
Marcus Avenue (previously Marshall), began construction sometime in 1921.
Hardin, who had no known building skills, undertook the project himself, utilizing
native river rock also referred to as arroyo stone.

The Hardin house on the original site on Marcus Avenue is clearly the tallest house
on this section of the Avenue. Although it has had substantial additions to the rear
of the house and the substitution of newer windows on much of the stone structure,
the entire original arroyo stone house has survived with its unique character intact,
and still dominates the lot.

The citywide historic resources survey, SurveyL A, identified the subject property
as individually eligible for listing under the national, state, and local designation
programs, citing it as an “excellent example of arroyo stone construction in



Tujunga. Arroyo stone buildings are a particular building type in this area of the
San Fernando Valley; in the teens and 1920s many residences and other buildings
were constructed here using local stone”.
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the original Rancho Tujunga, saw an opportunity to develop the area by marketing it as
an upscale agricultural community of gentleman farmers. He began purchasing and
selling off unused parcels in Glorietta Heights under his Western Empire Suburban Farms
Association banner, reserving approximately 270 acres to create a town site in the center
of his development.

In 1913 Hartranft joined forces with William Ellsworth Smythe to create a co-operative
community of homesteaders on the land he had set aside. Born into a wealthy New
England family, Smythe had eschewed a life of privilege to become a reporter for a
progressive newspaper. Having been deeply affected by the suffering of farmers during
Nebraska's Great Drought of 1890, he became a passionate advocate for irrigation and
fair water laws and what he saw as their vital role in western expansion. In 1891 he
organized the first National Irrigation Congress in Salt Lake City. Choosing Los Angeles
as the site of the second convention in 1893, Smythe was struck by the endless
possibilities California offered. It was here that his utopian vision would soon take form.

Just as industrialization was causing a mass exodus of workers from farms to over-
crowded cities, Smythe was advocating for a return to a simpler life, one that promoted
the soul-enriching benefits that could be derived from farming on small plots of land
within a larger community organized on a co-operative plan. Smythe was greatly
influenced by author and social reformer Bolton Hall, a key figure in the back-to-the-land
movement, who had written a number of books on the subject of smallholding and
growing food from the land with an emphasis on autonomy and community. His book, 4
Little Land and a Living influenced Smythe's vision of utopian living, who was quoted as
stating, "4 little land and a living, surely, is better than a desperate struggle and great
wealth, possibly." The Little Landers - as the residents of Smythe's first Little Lands
colony were known, shared this philosophy, opting to own just enough land to farm
without requiring outside help and growing enough food to support themselves. Any
surplus was sold at the colony's co-operative store or traded for supplies. With the
thriving Little Lands colony in San Ysidro serving as a model, Smythe turned his
attention to setting up a second colony, Los Terrenitos - or Little Lands - in Tujunga. In
1913 Smythe wrote a 26 page booklet extolling the virtues of Los Terrenitos.

The building of houses making use of the native stone in the Tujunga area was actually
promoted by Hartranft. An early advertising slogan was "Move to Tujunga with a trowel
and a bag of cement, and build your own." After the end of World War I, hundreds of
"rent-oppressed” people from Los Angeles did exactly that, and they built their houses
with foundations fashioned from the "great masses of stones and boulders" that lay
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Thus began a third period of development in Tujunga, which began, as recalled by a
February 1929 article in the local newspaper, the ‘Record Ledger’:

“The third distinctive stage in Tujunga’s development began in 1919, when M. V.
Hartranft, president of the California Home Extension Association, recognized the
opportunity which the acute housing conditions following the close of the first world war
created and began re-subdividing the ten-, five-, two- and one-acre tracts into town lots.
Mr. Hartranft offered these lots on terms and prices within the reach of any man receiving
an ordinary mechanic’s wages, and the response was instantaneous.

“With lots selling for under $200 each on terms of $10 down and $4 per month with no
building restrictions, mechanics, clerks, business and professional men speedily realized
that the money they could save by escaping the mounting rents would buy homes at
Tujunga and leave a good surplus toward living expenses.”

This was the type of enticement that led men like Floyd B. Hardin, who had just recently
completed in stint in prison, to take advantage of the opportunity to buy land at such a
low price.

The subject property is the North 50 feet of Lot 692 and all of Lot 693 of Tract No. 3962,
one of a dozen subdivisions that were marketed under the Los Terranitos name. Filed on
February 28, 1921, the 42 lot subdivision was numbered Lots 678 through 719, as all of
the Los Terranitos Tracts were assigned semi-sequential lot numbers. It was a
subdivision of Lot 2 of Tract No. 2197, which Hartranft and Smythe had carved out of
Blocks 3 and 4 of Glorietta Heights in 1917 on land that they had bought from Katherine
Bell, a Los Angeles music teacher, who had acquired the property a decade earlier.

Floyd Hardin was part of the third wave of settlers, purchasing 4 plots of land from
Hartranft’s California Home Extension Association in 1921 for $10 down with small
monthly payments. Floyd, having recently experienced his share of bad luck after being
imprisoned for his Pacifist activities during World War I, likely saw this as an
opportunity for himself, his wife, and two small children, to make a fresh start among a
small enclave of idealists and free-thinkers.



During the 1910s and 1920s, newcomers to Tujunga like Floyd Hardin were able to build
or find assistance in building their homes thanks to an abundance of local stone in the
Tujunga Wash and the presence of skilled local masons such as George Harris - builder
of Bolton Hall, the Little Lands clubhouse. The lack of building regulations and the
modest means of the new arrivals encouraged this kind of do-it-yourself approach and
produced a number of individualistic stone houses of architectural significance.

None of the remaining early stone houses in Tujunga have been designated Los Angeles
Historic Cultural Monuments. Along with Bolton Hall There are nine additional
designated properties in the community. California’s famed Poet Laureate, John Steven
McGroarty hired the architect Arthur B. Benton to design his partially stone home (HCM
No. 63) in 1923. Two of the others, (Blarney Castle (HCM No 830) and Weatherwolde
Castle (HCM No. 841) are stone castles that were built in the late 1920s. One 1s a frame
ranch house, Oak Glen Ranch (HCM No. 838). Two are Mid Century Modern houses,
Richard Nuetras’s Serulnic House (HCM No. 740) and the Simpkins Residence (HCM
No. 1231), designed by Carl L. Maston and Ray Kappe. The Verdugo Hills of Peace
Pioneer Cemetery (HCM No. 946), the Cross of San Ysidro (HCM No. 993), and the site
of the Tuna Canyon Detention Center (HCM No. 1039) round out the list.

There are only 10 stone buildings designated in the rest of Los Angeles. The Lummis
Home (HCM No. 68), the Hiner House (partially stone) (HCM No. 105), and the Abbey
San Encino (HCM No. 106) are all three in Highland Park. The Canoga Mission Gallery
(HCM No. 135) in Canoga Park, the Stonehurst Recreation Center (HCM No. 172) in
Sun Valley, the Lederer Residence (HCM No. 204) in Canoga Park, the Stimson
Residence (HCM No. 212) in South Park, the Powder Magazine from Camp Drum (HCM
No. 249 in Wilmington, The Arroyo Stone House (HCM No. 373) in Highland Park, and
the Stone House (HCM No. 644) in Sun Valley. One HPOZ, Stonchurst, in Sun Valley,
is dedicated to preserving a neighborhood of stone houses.

The Arts and Crafts movement was very influential in the handmade design and materials
found in many Arroyo Stone houses. Arroyo Stone structures were unlike most Art and
Craft buildings however, in that they were completely clad in arroyo stone, instead of
merely using stone as an accent on an architectural element.

Arroyo Stone houses are most common to the areas in the foothills of the San Gabriel
Mountains, where arroyo stones (also known as river rocks, boulders and cobblestones)
could be easily collected from local rivers, streams and washes. Skilled stonemasons or



enthusiasts without the assistance of an architect built many of the early 20th century
Arroyo Stone structures.

The Little Landers clubhouse, Bolton Hall, exemplifies the philosophy of the Arts and
Crafts movement. Built by hand by self-proclaimed "nature builder" George Harris with
assistance from residents of the Little Lands colony. Like Charles Lummis, who built El
Alisal (HCM No. 68) from stones he collected from the adjacent Arroyo Seco, Harris
used local, natural materials gathered from the surrounding landscape. Encouraged by the
pitch that "a shovel, cement, and the precious everlasting rock was all you needed to
build a home", many of the colonists took this concept to heart, building their homes
from the readily available local stone.

Most Arroyo Stone houses were built in a traditional mortared stonewall construction
method, although a few were built with slips. A house built using the mortared stonewall
method still had to be built as carefully as a dry stack masonry house, using gravity to
hold one rock on top of another, but the walls could be built higher with the use of the
cement. Frames were often used on the interior of the house to help keep the walls
straight, as well as to frame fireplaces, doors and windows. The material expense could
be less with mortared stone wall construction than slip wall stone construction, because
there 1s more framing for the slips and the slip method requires more cement.
Additionally, the traditional mortar construction allows a skilled mason or artisan to place
the rock to better showcase the natural beauty of the material.

The Hardin House has wood framing undernecath much of the stone, a technique that was
frequently used and in this case is well documented in construction photos. The original
permit for the Lummis Home, which was designed by architects Theodore Eisen and
Sumner P. Hunt, refers to it as a frame house.

These stone houses typically followed one of two architectural styles. The first was a
relatively conventional stone version of the California bungalow, featuring low-pitched
gabled roofs and broad overhangs. The main difference between these houses and the
standard bungalow was the use of load-bearing stone walls in place of traditional wood-
frame construction.

The other style was considerably more adventurous in appearance and appears to be
unique to Tujunga. This form was essentially cubic, with vertical proportions, a flat or
low-sloped roof with parapet, often a bell tower, and little if any ornamentation. By



combining elements of both the Arts and Crafts and Mission Revival aesthetics, a unique
expression of California architecture was created.

In the case of the Hardin House, both Bolton Hall and Wieman Memorial Chapel were
two existing, well-known public buildings within blocks of Hardin's building site, and
may have influenced its design. This may also explain why various architectural and
historical publications have cited the Hardin home as having been one of the first
churches or schoolhouses in the area, although no documentation to support ecither of
these claims has been found. In fact, letters supplied by Hardin family members refer to it
only as their residence. However the church and schoolhouse narrative continue to
persist. The real estate listing before the sale to the present owner listed it as a former
schoolhouse.

Unique to the subject property is a collection of photographs taken in 1921, possibly by
Rosalee, showing the house under construction. In the photos, the house can be seen to
rise from a large boulder strewn foundation with each stone carefully placed and
mortared one on top of another, relying on gravity to hold it in place. A wood frame was
built on the interior of the house to align the structure. As each course was laid, the
stones would become smaller, so the walls would taper toward the top. Although no
original building permit exists, the quality of craftsmanship on the Hardin House would
indicate the assistance or work of a master stone mason, such as George Harris.

The house retains significant character defining features of its original architecture
including the rubble stone foundation, stone tower, flat roof with parapet, wood framed
windows, stone chimney, stone fireplace, wood beam ceiling and connection with the
site.

The 2012 SurveyLLA draft study titled Context: Pre-Consolidation Communities of Los
Angeles Theme: Tujunga 1888 - 1932, Theme Narrative, singled the subject property out
as significant for two reasons; its style of architecture, and the rare photographic record
of it being built.

Hardin, himself, had an interesting history before he came to Tujunga. Floyd Barnes
Hardin, Jr. was born along with his twin sister, Flora, in Geneva, Illinois on May 4th,
1886. He was raised and educated in Rockford, Illinois. He received numerous academic
accolades from a young age, particularly in his oratory skills. He came from a prominent
family that was reported to be “specially endowed beings”, thanks to serving as preachers
for over five consecutive generations, and as leaders in the community. Floyd Hardin
gave his first sermon at the age of 18, carrying on the family legacy of ministry. He



attended the Garrett Biblical Institute at Evanston, IL, as well as Northwestern
Theological School.

His belief system and speaking out against social injustice led him to become a Christian
Pacifist who was arrested and incarcerated due to his strong convictions against war.
These events were widely published in newspapers across the nation, particularly around
1917-1918. Not long after serving his 1918 jail sentence, he purchased his land in
Tujunga. Still a relatively isolated outpost, building his own home in a somewhat off-
the-grid community must have seemed like a perfect antidote to the chaos he had recently
experienced.

Floyd was married five times and frequently relocated. His first marriage to Goldie L.
Lang was in Chicago on February 11, 1911. Their son, Oliver “Shady” Shadrick Hardin,
was born the following year. Their daughter Vivian was born exactly three years after
their marriage, on February 11, 1914. That marriage appears to have ended a short time
later. By 1918 he was remarried and living in Eagle Rock.

He moved to Tujunga from Eagle Rock with his second wife Rosamond Adeline Rayner
in 1921, during which time he built their residence. It appears that almost as soon as he
completed their home, he and Rosamond separated, with both moving out of the Tujunga
area in 1922. It should be noted that Rosamond's mother strongly disapproved of Floyd,
and had been actively trying to break-up the marriage since they first became involved,
going so far as to contact federal agents to inform on Floyd's pacifist activities, possibly
leading to his arrest and incarceration.

Rosamond moved back to her family in Northern California and Hardin moved to the
Denver Colorado area where he lived the majority of his life and worked as a printer and
later for, strangely, the Midwest Liquor Company. Their children, Grace Hardin-Tift and
Paul Hardin, are pictured in one of the photos of the house under construction, are still
alive. Grace was born on April 2, 1918 and passed away in a nursing home in Walnut
Creek, CA on June 10 2020 at 102. Her brother Paul, also pictured, turned 100 in July
2019. Floyd had virtually no contact with these children after the divorce from Rosamond
in 1924,

He was married again by the following year to 19 year old Ruby Rosalee Wells, who he
was divorced from sometime in the 1930s. Records submitted to ancestry.com show him
marrying a fourth time to Aileen Harper, in Cook County, Illinois, on February 25, 1958.


ancestry.com

His fifth marriage was to Evelyn Lackey Bivens in Denver on May 4, 1961. He then
relocated to his new wife’s home in Gulfport, Mississippi.

Floyd B. Hardin died in Winnetka, Illinois on January 13, 1971 at the age of 85 and was
survived by his fifth wife, and two sons and three daughters from previous marriages. He
was considered an authority in world languages and a leader in the international language
movement, Esperanto. He was a writer, editor, and poet who was published frequently,
particularly in the area of Esperanto.

The foregoing were excerpts from a more comprehensive biography of Hardin that is
found on a separate document submitted with this application.

As a result of his divorce from Rosamond, Hardin sold his new stone house to George H.
Marcher in 1923. Marcher, a Los Angeles jewelry merchant, does not appear to have
lived in the house, but may have built the rear house while he owned the property, which
he then sold to Arthur C. Seward, an automobile salesman, in 1925. Seward lived in the
house until 1930, when he deeded the property to Joseph W. Kurtz, an Illinois-born
gardener for the parks department of the city of Los Angeles. He and his Finnish born
wife, Anna, did not live in the house until the early 1940s. A 1945 photo during the
Kurtz ownership shows the house in its original configuration with the rear house still a
scparate structure.

Kurtz sold the property to Ernest E. and Fontaine I. Kelly on September 13, 1947. It was
the Kellys that were to sell off parts of Hardin’s original four lots, deeding off lot 694, to
the North, around 1950 and Fontaine later selling Lot 691 and the South 10 feet of Lot
692 a decade later. Ernest Eldon Kelly, a wholesale grocery salesman, was born in Enid,
Oklahoma on May 15, 1908. He married Fontaine Ida Toppas in 1933. The Kellys had
been living in Witchita, Kansas, before moving to California at the end of World War 11.
He passed away on June 23, 1957, at the age of 48.

After Fontaine sold the Southern parcel, she deeded the house to Frank A. and Nancy A.
(May) Anthony on August 1, 1962. Their 13 year marriage ended in divorce in February
1967. Frank quitclaimed his interest in the house to Nancy on March 21, 1968. Four
years later, she sold the house to Ernest and Judy Fendi on February 18, 1972. They
transferred the property to Wanda M. Rohwer on April 3, 1979. Rohwer retained the
house for two years, deeding it to newlyweds Raymond L. and Kimberly A. (Haycox)
Kinder on May 22, 1981. Raymond Leslie Kinder was born in Barton, Manchester,
England on March 8, 1951 and was brought to Los Angeles as a child. At the time they



bought the house, he was the service manager for Foothill Volkswagen. He was to die
young on May 30, 1999, at the age of 48.

The Kinders sold the subject house to Arthur Gary and Elaine Brandenburg on April 17,
1986. The Brandenburgs transferred it to Chung Song and Myung Ja Choi on January
14, 1988. The Choi’s deeded it to Hee Woon Chung on February 22, 1999. She
transferred it to Gary and Patricia Knott on February 12, 2003. Sadly, the Knotts lost the
house in the 2008 mortgage meltdown and it was deeded to Wells Fargo Financial
California on August 22, 2008. It was sold to Timothy Chenoweth and Darla Parker on
November 26, 2008. On January 8, 2020, Chenoweth quitclaimed his interest to Parker
and she transferred the property to Jean Boujekian on February 14, 2020. She then
transferred it to Dene Ann Heming, the current owner, on August 13, 2020.

The Hardin House qualifies for Los Angeles Historic Cultural Monument status as it “is
identified with important events of national, state, or local history, or exemplifies
significant contributions to the broad cultural, economic or social history of the nation,
state, city or community” as being an excellent example of the early stone houses that
were indigenous to the early development of the Tujunga area. 10226 Marcus Avenue
was built by Reverend Floyd Barnes Hardin during Tujunga's third wave of settlement
that commenced soon after the demise of the Little Lands colony, 10226 Marcus Avenue
(previously Marshall Street), began construction sometime in 1921. Hardin, who had no
known building skills, apparently undertook the project himself, utilizing native field
stone. Despite substantial additions to the rear of the house and the substitution of newer
windows on much of the stone structure, the original arroyo stone house survives with its
unique character intact, still dominating the lot. Floyd Hardin also played a significant
role in the Christian Pacifist and Socialist movements in California and the nation during
WWI, and was instrumental in the promotion and expansion of the international language
of Esperanto.

It also “embodies the distinctive characteristics of a style, type, period, or method of
construction; or represents a notable work of a master designer, builder, or architect
whose individual genius influenced his or her age” as it embodies the distinctive
characteristics of the Arroyo Stone architectural style, a rare sub-theme of the Arts and
Crafts movement, making it a valuable resource for the study of early 20th century stone
architecture in Los Angeles, and more specifically, as an exceptional example of the
vernacular architectural style unique to Tujunga,
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The citywide historic resources survey, SurveyLA, singles the subject property out as a
noteworthy example of Arroyo stone architecture and identified the subject property as
individually eligible for listing under the national, state, and local registers.
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Floyd Barnes Hardin
(1886-1971)

General Backqround

Floyd Barnes Hardin was born on May 4th, 1886. He was raised and educated in
Rockford, IL, and received numerous academic accolades from a young age,
particularly in his oratory skills. He came from a prominent family that was reported to
be “specially endowed beings’, thanks to serving as preachers for over five
consecutive generations, and as leaders in the community. Floyd Hardin gave his first
sermon at the age of 18, carrying on the family legacy of ministry. He attended the
Garrett Biblical Institute at Evanston, IL, as well as Northwestern Theological School.

Early in life, Hardin appeared deeply committed to fighting for causes he believed in.
An example of his early leadership and activism is documented in a letter that was
published in the local paper regarding Hardin’s opposition to dances at high school
functions. He believed these dances were orchestrated by a “clique” of students who
he considered “aristocratic” in their demeanor. He himself was viewed as a scholar
as well as an agitator due to his comfort in speaking out. He created a petition for
students to stand up and oppose dances at school functions and won the majority,
only to have his petition recalled. He proclaimed that certain individuals in “authority”
had encouraged him to be careful not to “stir things up”. His response to this warning,
‘I say, let things be stirred up...”, and was not easily deterred.

His belief system and speaking out against social injustice led him to become a
Christian Pacifist who was arrested and incarcerated due to his strong convictions
against war. These events were widely published in newspapers across the nation,
particularly around 1917-1918. Not long after serving his 1918 jail sentence, he
purchased his land in Tujunga. Still a relatively isolated outpost, building his own home
in a somewhat off-the-grid community must have seemed like a perfect antidote to the
chaos he had recently experienced.

Floyd was married five times and frequently relocated. His first marriage to Goldie
L. Lang was in Chicago on February 11, 1911. Their son, Oliver “Shady” Shadrick
Hardin, was born the following year. Their daughter Vivian was born exactly three
years after their marriage, on February 11, 1914. That marriage appears to have
ended a short time later. By 1918 he was remarried and living in Eagle Rock.

He moved to Tujunga with his second wife Rosamund Adeline Rayner in 1921, during
which time he built their residence. It appears that almost as soon as he completed
their home, he and Rosamond separated, with both moving out of the Tujunga area



in 1922. It should be noted that Rosamond's mother strongly disapproved of Floyd,
and had been actively trying to break-up the marriage since they first became
involved, going so far as to contact federal agents to inform on Floyd's pacifist
activities, possibly leading to his arrest and incarceration.

Rosamond moved back to her family in Northern California and Hardin moved to the
Colorado area where he lived the majority of his life. Their children, Grace Hardin-Tift
and Paul Hardin, are pictured in one of the photos of the house under construction,
are still alive. Grace was born on April 2, 1918 and passed away in a nursing home in
Walnut Creek, CA on June 10 2020 at 102. Her brother Paul, also pictured, turned
100 in July 2019. Floyd had virtually no contact with these children after the divorce
from Rosamond in 1924.

He was married again by the following year to 19 year old Ruby Rosalee Wells, who
he was divorced from sometime in the 1930s. Records found on to ancestry.com show
him marrying a fourth time to Aileen Harper, in Cook County, lllinois, on February 25,
1958. His fifth marriage was to Evelyn Gilbert Lackey Bivens in Denver, on May 4,
1961. He then relocated to his new wife’s home in Gulfport, Mississippi.

Floyd B. Hardin died in Winnetka, lllinois on January 13, 1971 at the age of 85 and
was survived by his fifth wife, and two sons and three daughters from previous
marriages. He was considered an authority in world languages and a leader in the
international language movement, Esperanto. He was a writer, editor, and poet who
was published frequently, particularly in the area of Esperanto.

Religious Leader

Floyd was the fifth generation in his family to become a minister. His great, great
grandfather, Reverend Mr. Barnes began this tradition and was a Free Will Baptist
during the early days of the American Revolution. Floyd B. Hardin, his father, and
grandfather were Methodists. An article about this dynasty goes on to assert that
“there are probably few families who can trace such a lineage” as found in Floyd B.
Hardin’s family.

Hardin received his license to serve as a lay preacher in November 1904, while he
was still just in high school, demonstrating his precocious passion for the pulpit. He
was considered the “exhorter’ of the church, and served as assistant pastor to his
father at the Winnebago M.E. Church.

In September of 1908, three generations of Hardin preachers took to the same pulpit
for three consecutive Sundays. Floyd’s grandfather, F.A. Hardin, was considered a
pioneer in the Methodist faith. At that time in 1908, F.A. Hardin had been preaching
for over 59 years. Floyd’s father, Frank B Hardin had preached for over 33 years.
Floyd himself was ordained for several years but not yet assigned a congregation of
his own. It should also be noted that this was considered a “record event” as no time
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prior, had three generations of Hardin ministers taken to the pulpit together.
Also in 1908, Hardin accepted a position as minister for the Unitarian Church in
Moline, IL, going against Trinitarian family tradition. In 1909, after serving as the
pastor of this church, Hardin unexpectedly and abruptly sought to resign for health
reasons, with a request to take a year off to rest and recuperate in a quiet locale, with
the aim of returning to the pulpit following this respite. He also informed others that he
planned to forgo his Esperanto work while on leave. His resignation from the Unitarian
Church was rescinded due to the outcry of his congregation voicing their need and
appreciation for Floyd’'s services. In April 23, 1909, he once again made news by
denying the divinity of Christ in a sermon at Moline.

Over the course of his life, he changed denomination a handful of times, as if on a
quest for spiritual truth. He was raised as a Methodist and his early preaching
experiences were assisting with his father's pulpit. He later was ordained as a
Unitarian minister. Toward the end of his life, he became a member of the Baha'i Faith,
a world religion.

Pacifist

On April 6, 1917, the United States became involved in the First World War against
the central powers of Germany, Austria-Hungary and the Ottoman Empire. Many
clergy supported the American war efforts, including evangelist Billy Sunday and the
Reverend George Davidson of Saint John’s Episcopal church in Los Angeles. Floyd
Hardin, the pastor of the Methodist Episcopal Church in Atwater, California, offended
by what he thought were militarist interpretations of Christianity, organized a
conference of Christian Pacifists with Robert Whitaker, a minister of the Baptist
Church in Los Gatos, California, and Fannie Bixby, a member of a prominent Los
Angeles family, to be held in Long Beach, California.

The proposed Christian Pacifists meeting immediately ran into difficulties. Although
over 100 ministers from throughout the United States sent greetings, and permitted
the use their names in support of the meeting, the city of Long Beach withdrew their
permission to have the event within their municipal jurisdiction. Floyd Hardin changed
the venue and arranged to rent a hall in downtown Los Angeles. He described the
event as “non-obstructive” and “non-political” and invited city authorities to attend the
meeting. The event was not publicized, but invitations were sent to those who were
thought to be interested. Although the arrangements were done quietly, many citizens
and clergy found out about the event and became agitated.

On the day of the meeting, Robert Whitaker found the doors to the hall blocked by
police. Anticipating, this difficulty, Whitaker and Hardin had arranged for an alternate
meeting in a nearby office building. Hardin opened the meeting with some devotional
words and introduced the first speaker, Harold Story, who spoke on the subject of
“Fellowship of Reconciliation”. Shortly after Story began speaking, a police sergeant
and three officers entered the hall. The sergeant told Whitaker, who was chairman of



the gathering, to end the meeting. Whitaker told sergeant he had no intention of
ending the meeting, and that if the police wanted it stopped they would have to do it
themselves. The police left, but returned later to arrest Whitaker, Hardin and Story.
As they were taken to jail, the audience sang, “God be With You Till We Meet Again”.

Floyd Hardin, Robert Whitaker and Harold Story were charged with uttering, “thoughts
and theories” that would “cause any American citizen to assault and battery”. Later
the same day, they were released on $500.00 bail. The conference moved to private
residences in the cities of Pasadena and Eagle Rock and proceeded without much
incident, even with presence of plainclothes policemen, until the final day. On the last
day of the conference, a contingent of the Pasadena Home Guard invaded the
meeting held in South Pasadena. They demanded to know why an American flag was
not displayed, and when it was produced, it was confiscated on the grounds that the
group was desecrating it. The Home Guard then dragged all the men out of the house
and pushed them into their automobiles and drove them to the city limits and told them
not to return.

Hardin, Whitaker and Story were brought to trial on November 14, 1917 and charged
with participating in an illegal assembly, refusing to disburse when ordered, and
disturbing the peace. Hardin et al retained J. H. Ryckman, Job Harriman’s former law
partner, as their attorney. The prosecutor told the jury that if they were loyal to their
country, they would convict, if disloyal they would not. The jury found the trio guilty
and each was sentenced to six months in jail and fined $1,200. The State Appellate
court later overturned this verdict, but while the appeal worked its way through the
courts, Hardin, Whitaker and Story spent three months in the county jail, serving in a
24 square foot jail cell with 17 other prisoners.

The trial brought national notoriety to Hardin, as the story of his arrest and trial became
front-page news in California and was further published in newspapers and periodicals
throughout the United States. Floyd Hardin became a notable figure in the Christian
Pacifist and Socialist movements in California and the Nation. In January of 1918,
Hardin was invited by Prince Hopkins, a prominent California Socialist, to write and
print Pacifist tracts at his school, Boyland, in Santa Barbara. His new association with
Prince Hopkins, and the recent trial in Los Angeles attracted the attention of the United
States Department of Justice, Bureau of Investigation, who assigned an agent to
follow Hardin and report on his activities.

In April of 1918, while working as a minister in Modesto, California, Hardin was
arrested by federal officials on a charge of violating the espionage act. The grounds
for this charge were based on the allegation that Hardin was circulating a publication,
“More Prussian Than Prussia”, written by Prince Hopkins, who had been arrested the
previous day. Federal officials report that a mob was planning to hang Hardin which
was prevented due to Hardin’s timely placement into protective custody before
violence occurred.



Hardin made front page news of a United Press Release dated May 4, 1918, regarding
his indictment for espionage charges. Hardin is specifically noted as a “Christian
Pacifist”, as well as being considered a “prominent Southern Californian” as a member
of this group charged together. An additional publication created by Prince Hopkins is
also mentioned; “The Ethics of Murder” that the group was believed to be circulating.
The article goes on to state that Hardin is well known in and around Twin Falls, ID
where this citation is sourced, suggesting his notoriety throughout the nation during
this period.

On May 7, 1918 Reverend Hardin and Reverend Whitaker began their jail sentences.
Application for a temporary writ of habeas corpus was granted on August, 8, 1918,
based on the grounds that Rev. Hardin and Rev. Whitaker had served a 90 day term
for disturbing the peace, and that the six month concurrent term for unlawful
assemblage was illegally imposed, as the original complaint did not specify the
unlawful nature of the assemblage.

Leader in International Language Movement

Esperanto was created by Polish ophthalmologist L. L. Zamenhof in 1887. His goal
was to create an easy and flexible auxiliary language to serve as a universal second
language fostering world peace and international understanding.

In 1907, Hardin became the President of the University of Chicago Esperanto Society,
which had over 100 members. He offered free Esperanto classes at the YMCA with
the assistance of Mr. E.C. Reed, who was the head of the Harvard University
Esperanto association, suggesting that Hardin traveled in elite academic circles
through his associations.

Esperanto was widely considered the foremost international auxiliary language,
having passed the “experimental stage” and was believed to be growing due to
endorsement and use by the Red Cross society, Christian Endeavor society,
socialists, Good Templars and over 40 other worldwide societies in international
relations. Esperanto was also reported to be “learned in an hour” due to its simplicity
and that the average American student already possessed 75% of the vocabulary
used in Esperanto.











http://www.littlelandershistoricalsociety.org/
https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Little_Landers&oldid=1240218366
https://books.google.com/books?id=ZJOrAQAAMAAJ
https://www.jstor.org/stable/3739324
http://www.sandiegohistory.org/journal/75winter/littlelanders.htm
https://books.google.com/books?id=ZJOrAQAAMAAJ
https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-1996-01-07-me-21810-story.html

August 25, 1921:

Circa 1923:

Circa 1950:

May 11, 1999:

Building Permit History
10226 N. Marcus Avenue
Tujunga

Construction of a 1-story, 4-room, 60' X 128’ 6” frame and
stone residence at 10226 N. Marcus Avenue on Lot 693 and the
North 30 Feet of Lot 692 of Tract No. 3952. (Date given was the
sale date of the property to the owner-builder)

Owner: Floyd Hardin

Architect: None

Contractor: Owner

Cost: Unknown

Construction of a 1-story frame 2°¢ house toward rear of lot.
(Based on increase in valuation in 1924)

Owner: George H. Marcher

Architect: None

Contractor: Probably Owner Build

Cost: $400.00

Construction of a kitchen addition which connected the front
house to the rear house sometime after 1945, based a photo
record from that year. The work appears to have been legalized
in 1999.

Owner: Ernest E. and Fontaine Ina Kelly

Architect: None

Contractor: Unknown

Cost: Unknown

Building Permit No. LA86439 to add room (9.9’ X 13°) &
laundry room (7’ 6” X 8’). Replace 4 existing aluminum
windows & replace drywall at living room walls, remodel
kitchen-replace plumbing fixtures and cabinets, related
electrical, HVAC and plumbing.

Owner: Hee Woom Chung

Architect: None

Engineer: Lee Sang

Contractor: C C Construction Co.
Cost: $15,000.00



May 19, 1999:

November 10, 2008:

January 22, 2013:

Building Permit No. LA86718, supplemental permit to legalize
6’ 6” X 14’ addition (kitchen) on North side of existing SFD.
Owner: Hee Woom Chung

Architect: None

Engineer: None

Contractor: C C Construction Co.

Cost: $5,000.00

Plumbing Permit No. WO84221729 to install 1 earthquake
valve.

Owner: Gary and Patricia Knott

Architect: None

Engineer: None

Contractor: PRC Mechanical

Cost: Not Shown

Plumbing Permit No. W0O34201233 to replace water heater in
the same location.

Owner: Darla Parker and Timothy Chenoreth

Architect: None

Engineer: Grigor Simonyan Inc.

Contractor: Owner

Cost: $39,000.00
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